
Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN AGENDA 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 
2 Main Street 

 

MONDAY, JULY 11, 2022 6:00 PM 
 

 
    
1. Call to Order 
    
2. Non-Public Session: NH RSA 91-A: 3 (d) Consideration of the acquisition, 

sale, or lease of real or personal property which, if discussed in public, 
would likely benefit a party or parties whose interests are adverse to those 
of the general community. 

    
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
    
4. Citizens' Forum 
    
5. Board Discussion- 7 Thornton Ferry 1 
    
6. Scheduled Appointments 
 

 

  6.1. Bill Swift, Goldens on the Green 2022  
    
7. Administration 
  7.1. Administrative Updates  
  7.2. PFAS Update  
  7.3. 7 Thornton Ferry Rd. 1  
    
8. Staff Reports 
  8.1. Approval - New Hire  
  8.2. FY23 Police Cruisers  
  8.3. Bid Award - Contracted Assessing Services  
  8.4. Tax and Assessing Update  
  8.5. Bid Award - Shared Streets Planning Services  
  8.6. AFR Biannual Update  

Page 1 of 145



  8.7. Community Development Update  
  8.8. Easement Agreement Signature  
  8.9. CIP Committee Appointments  
  8.10. Employee Policy Handbook Updates  
    
9. Approvals 
  9.1. Assessing  
  9.2. MInutes  
  9.3. AP & PR Approval  
    
10. Action Items 
    
11. Old/New Business 
    
12. Non-Public Session: NH RSA 91-A: 3 (d) Consideration of the acquisition, 

sale, or lease of real or personal property which, if discussed in public, 
would likely benefit a party or parties whose interests are adverse to those 
of the general community. 

    
  Adjournment 
    
  Next Meeting: July 25, 2022 

 

You are invited to a Zoom webinar. 
 When: Jul 11, 2022 06:30 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada) 
 Topic: Board of Selectmen 07/11/2022 
  
 Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
 https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89360409621  
 Or Telephone:  (646) 931-3860   
 Webinar ID: 893 6040 9621 
 

Page 2 of 145

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89360409621


"GOLDENS ON THE GREEN"
Sunday, October 23rd, 1-3 PM

Purpose: Social Gathering for Greater Amherst Golden Retriever Owners and to raise money for 
Operation Delta Dogs, a non-profit that rescues dogs and trains them for veterans

Cost: Requesting $20 per Golden donation to Operation Delta Dogs

Participation: Estimate 100 Golden Retrievers and 200 family members/friends

Activities: Doggie Kissing Booth, Pool Diving Championship, Simon Says, Best Fall Leaf Contest, 
Big Bubbles for Kids, The Parade of Goldens and a whole lot of family fun

Dog Awards: Youngest, Oldest, Service/Therapy and Contest Winners (3)

Parking: Cars will be parked in the existing parking spaces around the Town Green

Concessions: No food or merchandise will be for sale at the event

COVID: Face masks optional, social distancing suggested, hand sanitizer available

Safety: Dogs must be on a leash, biting or fighting is the owner's responsibility

Clean-up: Dog waste and any trash will be removed from the Town Green before leaving

This will be the 4th annual "Goldens on the Green" event

NOTE: A Certificate of Insurance, in accordance with the Town Common Use Policy, will be 
provided to the Town for the date of October 23, 2022, naming the Town of Amherst as an 
additional insured party through Operation Delta Dogs.

Page 3 of 145



Page 4 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Administrative Updates Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact:   

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 

Page 5 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: PFAS Update Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact:   

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
PFAS usage at the Amhest Fire Station seems to have caused some wells in the 
vicinity to test in exceedance of acceptable standards for PFAS.  In an effort to address 
this issue as quickly as possible, the BOS will be discussing remediation strategies and 
determining whether the town should spend an estimated $ 530,000 for a project to 
extend water lines down Cobbler Lane and Thatcher Drive.    
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
The town has applied for a grant from the State of NH to cover the costs of this project, 
but whether it will received the grant is not known at this time.  The BOS may consider 
spending ARPA funds on the project.  
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
I would recommend that the BOS begin to move forward on the project with 
Pennichuck  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 

Page 6 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: 7 Thornton Ferry Rd. 1 Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact:   

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The Town has taken 7 Thornton Ferry Road 1 for back taxes.  The BOS needs to 
decide whether to sell the property, by auction or sealed bid, or keep it for town use.  It 
is a piece of property that apparently is adjacent to the proposed bike/ ped trail.    
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
Attached spreadsheet indicates the amount of back taxes, interest and penalties have 
accrued.   
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 3220_001 

Page 7 of 145



Page 8 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Approval - New Hire Department: Police Department 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Mark Reams  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The police department is seeking Board approval to hire a Full-Time Police Officer to fill 
a position recently left vacant by the resignation of Officer Rachel McAloon.  Ms. 
Jessica Distler is a recent graduate of Plymouth State University with a B.S. in Criminal 
Justice and is also a former college intern with the Amherst Police Department.  Ms. 
Distler has completed all necessary background checks and NH Police Academy hiring 
requirements and comes highly recommended. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Reommend 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to appoint Jessica Distler to the position of Full-Time Police Officer, effective July 
11, 2022. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 20220630102005 
2. 20220630131533 

Page 9 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: FY23 Police Cruisers Department: Police Department 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Mark Reams  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Bid approval requested for upfitting two 2022 Dodge Durango police cruisers. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
$27,584 expenditure from budgeted FY23 funds 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve recommended bidder. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Move to award the bid for upfitting two of the police department's 2022 Dodge Durango 
police cruisers to Ossipee Mountain Electronics, Inc. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 20220705133307 

Page 10 of 145



Page 11 of 145



Page 12 of 145



Page 13 of 145



Page 14 of 145



Page 15 of 145



Page 16 of 145



Page 17 of 145



Page 18 of 145



Page 19 of 145



Page 20 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Bid Award - Contracted Assessing 
Services 

Department: Assessing 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Gail Stout  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
On March 4, 2022 an RFP for contracted assessing services was initiated and mailed 
to 16 vendors, all of which appear on the DRA website as qualified appraisal 
companies.  One bid proposal was received from Granite Hill Municipal Services as 
enclosed.  A second RFP was issued on April 4, 2022.  No additional bids were 
received. 
 
Granite Hill's staff credentials meet the requirements of the RFP.  The bid appears to be 
reasonable in cost. Positive feedback was received from the professional references 
provided. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
FY23 Budget includes $94,000. for this line item 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
To accept and negotiate a 5-year contract with Granite Hill Municipal Services. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to award the five (5) year contracted assessing bid to Granite Hill Municipal 
Services of Concord, NH estimated at $93,200. for year 1, $96,400. for year 2, 
$99,200. for year 3, $100,700. for year 4, and $103,300. for year 5, beginning July 1, 
2022 through June 30, 2027. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Contracted Assessing RFP Award Request June 2022 Public 

Page 21 of 145



Page 22 of 145



Page 23 of 145



Page 24 of 145



Page 25 of 145



Page 26 of 145



Page 27 of 145



Page 28 of 145



Page 29 of 145



Page 30 of 145



Page 31 of 145



Page 32 of 145



Page 33 of 145



Page 34 of 145



Page 35 of 145



Page 36 of 145



Page 37 of 145



Page 38 of 145



Page 39 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Tax and Assessing Update Department: Tax Collector 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Gail Stout  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Please see attachment 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Tax and Assessing Biannual Update 6 27 2022  

Page 40 of 145



TAX & ASSESSING

BIANNUAL UPDATE 

JULY 2022

Page 41 of 145



TAX AND ASSESSING OVERVIEW

 Staffing 

 2 Full Time Employees

 Contracted Assessing Firm

 Services

 Public Service & Resource Provider

 Inventory and Valuation of Real Estate

 Property Tax Collection

 Customer Consultation

 Central Depository for all Town Departments

Page 42 of 145



ASSESSING UPDATE

 DRA Issued Equalization Ratio 95.7% (2021)

 Residential Sale Prices Continue to be Above 

Assessed Valuations Placed in 2021 Reval

 Finalizing Contracted Assessing RFP

 1 Active 2020 Assessment Appeal with NH 

Board of Tax and Land Appeals 

 2021 Abatement Responses Completed

 MS-1 Inventory of Property Due to DRA Sept 1st

Page 43 of 145



STATUS OF PROPERTY TAX LIENS

TAX YEAR

# OF 

PROPERTIES

(Originally)

DUE AT LIEN

# OF 

PROPERTIES

(Currently)

BALANCE AS OF 

6/30/2022

2021 58 $ 191,902 45 $ 170,786

2020 50 $ 188,454 16 $ 83,869

2019 47 $ 268,257 10 $ 31,706

2018 58 $ 264,771 1 $     1,183

2017 52 $ 235,672 1 $     1,093

2016 72 $ 284,673 1 $     1,058

2015-2012 2 $     9,055

TOTAL $ 298,750 Page 44 of 145



JULY 2022 PROPERTY TAX COLLECTIONS

 Property Taxes Due July 1, 2022

 As of July 6, 2022 - 93.8 Percent Collected

 Online Tax Payments 4%

 Electronic Payments from Mortgage Co 35%

 Mailed payments/Lockbox 30%

 Tax Office Counter/Mailed Payments 31%

 MS-61 Tax Collector’s Report due to DRA Sept 

1st for Tax Rate Setting in October
Page 45 of 145



MISSION AND VISION STATEMENT

MISSION: 

To deliver fair and equitable taxation to all       

property owners in Amherst with respect, integrity, 

and compassion.

VISION:

To serve the taxpayers of Amherst, demonstrating 

the highest ethical and professional standards 

and quality assessment services, in response to 

the needs of our community. 
Page 46 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Bid Award - Shared Streets Planning 
Services 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Eric Slosek  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
We recently put out an RFQ for shared streets planning services seeking engineering 
firms to help design Amherst village streets with a pedestrian-friendly approach in 
mind.  We received submissions from two qualified firms. We requested bid proposals 
from the two firms, receiving bids back on Tuesday, July 5.   
 
After review of the proposals, we recommend to award the contract for "shared streets 
planning services" to Mobycon for the amount of $97,885.00.  Both firms submitted 
highly competitive proposals. Our decision to recommend Mobycon for this award was 
based on their reputation of being the established international and U.S. experts in the 
field of designing "shared streets." Mobycon has been engineering shared street 
concepts for more than 45 years, long before these concepts were considered for 
implementation in the U.S.  Further, Mobycon included in their proposal a detailed 
project timeline that would work well for our project deadlines. 
 
 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
$97,885 from Multi-Modal CRF 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommend to award contract to Mobycon for $97,885.00. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to award the "shared streets planning services" contract to Mobycon for 
$97,885.00. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

Page 47 of 145



1. SKMBT_28322070513580 
2. mobycon bid 
3. Shared Streets 01-23 

Page 48 of 145



Page 49 of 145



Page 50 of 145



Page 51 of 145



Page 52 of 145



Page 53 of 145



Page 54 of 145



Page 55 of 145



Page 56 of 145



Page 57 of 145



Page 58 of 145



Page 59 of 145



Page 60 of 145



Page 61 of 145



Page 62 of 145



Page 63 of 145



Page 64 of 145



Page 65 of 145



Page 66 of 145



Page 67 of 145



Page 68 of 145



Page 69 of 145



Page 70 of 145



Page 71 of 145



Page 72 of 145



Page 73 of 145



Page 74 of 145



Page 75 of 145



Page 76 of 145



Page 77 of 145



Page 78 of 145



Page 79 of 145



Page 80 of 145



Page 81 of 145



Page 82 of 145



Page 83 of 145



Page 84 of 145



Page 85 of 145



Page 86 of 145



Page 87 of 145



Page 88 of 145



Page 89 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: AFR Biannual Update Department: Fire Rescue 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Matt Conley  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
This is the biannual update that follows the strategic planning process delivered to the 
BOS in September of 2021.  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)    
Nothing at this time. 
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS: 
None 
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION: 
Not required at this time. 
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Not required at this time. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. AFR Biannual Update 7.6.2022 

Page 90 of 145



Page 91 of 145



Page 92 of 145



Page 93 of 145



Page 94 of 145



Page 95 of 145



Page 96 of 145



Page 97 of 145



Page 98 of 145



Page 99 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Community Development Update Department: Community Development 
Office 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Nic Strong  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Community Development Biannual Update Presentation 7.11.22 

Page 100 of 145



OFFICE OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
DEPARTMENT UPDATE

July 2022

Page 101 of 145



MISSION

The Amherst Office of Community Development provides excellent customer service, 
professional assistance and technical expertise in a consistent and fair manner to all its users 
on:

• the implementation of land use ordinances, regulations and policies;

• the issuance of building permits and the provision of inspections during the construction 
process;

• the enforcement of codes and ordinances.

Through community outreach and engagement, and support to appointed and elected Boards 
and Commissions, the Amherst Office of Community Development works to plan for the 
future sustainable development of the community while respecting individual rights and 
protecting historical and cultural resources and the natural environment.

Page 102 of 145



VALUES

The following core values represent the beliefs and behaviors that 
guide us in all the Office of Community Development's activities:

 Customer service
 Integrity
 Equitable service
 Support
 Transparency
 Efficiency
 Knowledge

Page 103 of 145



OVERVIEW

The Amherst Office of Community Development includes building, 
code enforcement, planning, zoning, and economic development 
functions.  

The Office provides support to the Town's Zoning Board of 
Adjustment, Planning Board, Historic District Commission, 
Conservation Commission, and the Heritage Commission.  The 
Office also supports the Capital Improvement Program Committee, 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee, and the Master Plan 
Steering Committee and assists other Town Departments and Boards 
as needed.

Page 104 of 145



HISTORICAL TRENDS

Page 105 of 145



BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION HISTORY

Building Permit Application History
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

(as of 6/29/22)

New SF Residential 
(including Condos) 14 8 34 10 13 24 12 35 37 36 37 37 10

Residential 
Additions/Alterations 142 119 109 175 127 166 302 207 259 278 259 353 162

Commercial/Industrial new 0 1 1 2 1 2 2 1 1 3 2 5 2

Commercial/Industrial 
additions/alterations 15 13 25 19 15 18 18 14 12 13 28 32 9

Signs 22 26 32 34 39 50 52 22 17 14 17 13 7
Pools 15 8 7 5 10 6 1 3 9 4 22 20 16
Demolition 24 16 12 13 21 12 4 12 6 6 12 6 0
Septic Systems 47 60 50 48 92 58 40 53 56 71 69 93 40
Electrical 112 103 146 247 191 212 235 226 226 219 226 309 148
Electrical (for generator) 72 30 33 54 31 19 36 11
Plumbing 20 7 5 77 80 90 87 112 161 101 83 103 42
Mechanical 57 43 33 276 307 372 313 340 408 439 426 574 208
Home Occupations 7 1 7 4 3 6 8 2 4 3 7 2 0
Total 475 405 461 910 899 1088 1104 1060 1250 1218 1207 1583 655

Page 106 of 145



PLANNING BOARD APPLICATIONS

Planning Board 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Scenic Road Hearings 2 2 1 1 3 2 2 2 1 3
Non-Residential Site Plans (NRSP) 7 6 3 4 3 2 3 9 6 10
Subdivision 3 1 8 7 6 3 6 4 4 7
Lot Line Adjustment 6 1 4 2 0 0 0 4 1 3
Conceptual Discussions 3 4 2 2 2 8 9 3 1 6
Sign Master Plan 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0
Compliance Hearing 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
Conditional Use Permit 0 0 4 2 2 3 6 11 6 8

Total 26 16 22 18 16 18 26 35 20 37

Page 107 of 145



ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
APPLICATIONS

Zoning Board of Adjustment 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Variance 23 16 27 12 12 14 9 15 10 7
Special Exception 2 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 0
Appeal of Administrative Decision 3 0 1 2 1 0 0 1 1 0
Equitable Waiver 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0
Variance for the Handicapped 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Rehearing Request ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 0 0

Total 30 19 32 14 13 15 10 17 12 7

Page 108 of 145



HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION 
APPLICATIONS

Historic District Commission 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
New Building 0 1 1 1 2 0 1 0 0 1
Ext. Building Mods/Alterations 36 7 10 14 10 9 14 10 9 20
Building Additions 0 0 0 4 5 4 1 1 2 0
Tree Removal 31 11 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fence/Landscaping 13 2 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0
Mechanical Equipment 3 2 3 3 1 2 2 2 3 5
Demolition 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sheds/Accessory Structures 0 0 3 2 0 2 9 5 5 2
Other 0 0 3 4 4 13 4 2 1 0

Total 83 24 24 28 22 30 31 30 20 28

Page 109 of 145



UPDATES

Master Plan
 Draft plan is being reviewed by 
Master Plan Steering Committee
 Draft to be presented to 
Planning Board August 17th

 Public input session in September
 Adoption in September/October

Page 110 of 145



UPDATES

• State legislature has passed HB 1681 to update the State Building Code to 2018 
ed. (awaiting Gov.’s signature)
o Will require additional training & seminars by staff and education to the 

public/ contractors/ applicants.
o New law also includes provision for using current/ existing Codes for 

existing applications and a 6-month grace period that applicants can choose 
the ’15 or ’18 Codes to use in their application/ work. Will require 
additional work by staff to monitor, review and inspect accordingly. 

• State legislature has passed SB 443 that changes if/when municipality adopts or 
amends local amendments to Building Code. (Signed by Gov 6/17)
o Requires State Building Code Review Board to approve any amendments or 

secondary adoption of State Code prior to its adoption by municipality. Will 
require us to monitor any proposed changes and work with Boards to make 
sure compliance is followed.

Page 111 of 145



UPDATES

• State legislature has passed SB 398 that replaces the joint 
committee on code enforcement with a standing advisory 
committee to review building and fire code adoptions (Signed, 
now RSA 153:4-b) 
 The intent of this is to continuously update codes in NH. 

Requires staff to monitor and stay abreast of updates and 
legislative process. Will require training/ seminars on regular 
basis.

Page 112 of 145



QUESTIONS?

Page 113 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Easement Agreement Signature Department: Community Development 
Office 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Nic Strong  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
As part of the approval of a subdivision on North Street in 2021, the Planning Board 
required the submission of an easement to the Town with regard to stormwater 
management and treatment facilities.  Please see attached Notice of Decision and the 
minutes of the 9/15/21 meeting. 
  
Town Counsel reviewed the attached easement agreement at the applicant’s expense 
and the attached final version is ready for the Board to sign.   
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 003-093-000 Easement Plat (04-11-2022) 
2. 003-093-000 PB Subdivision NOD Granted 9.15.2021 SIGNED 
3. 003-093-000 Proposed Stormwater Easement Town final (003) 
4. Section copy 9.15.21 PB Mins Map 3 Lot 93 

Page 114 of 145



Page 115 of 145



Page 116 of 145



Page 117 of 145



Page 118 of 145



EASEMENT AGREEMENT

This EASEMENT AGREEMENT (the “Easement Agreement”) is executed and 
effective this ___ day of ____________ 2022 by and between Unified Development, LLC, a 
New Hampshire Limited Liability Company, with an address of 3 Tech Circle, Amherst, NH 
03031 (the “Grantor”) and the Town of Amherst, New Hampshire, with an address of 2 Main 
Street, Amherst, NH 03031 (the “Grantee”).

RECITALS

A. Grantor is the owner of the land with the improvements thereon, if any, with 
frontage on North Street and located at 70A North Street, Amherst, New 
Hampshire by virtue of Warranty Deed from Anthony P. Matarazzo, Maria C. 
Matarazzo, Gelsa A. Matarazzo (a/k/a Gelsa F. Matarazzo) and Joseph Tropiano, 
Esquire, Administrator of the Estate of Anthony S. Matarazzo to Unified 
Development, LLC recorded on April 12, 2019, in the Hillsborough County 
Registry of Deeds at Book 9159, Page 0634, which is legally described in Exhibit 
A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (the “Grantor 
Property”) and as further shown on that certain plan of land entitled “Subdivision 
Plat Map 3 Lot 93 Unified Development, LLC 70 North Street Amherst, New 
Hampshire” as recorded with said Registry of Deeds at Plan #41194.

B. Grantor has agreed to grant to Grantee, its successor and/or assigns, a certain 
perpetual easement in favor of Grantee providing non-exclusive rights of access, 
inspection, maintenance, reconstruction, or replacement of the stormwater 
management and treatment facilities within this specific area designated as more 
fully depicted on the plan attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Easement Area”).  

C. Grantor, its successor and/or assigns, shall remain primarily responsible for any 
and all Easement Area design, construction, inspection, and regular maintenance.

GRANT OF EASEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Grantor hereby 
grants to Grantee, and the parties otherwise agree, as follows:

Page 119 of 145



1. Grant of Easement to Grantee.  Grantor, for good and adequate consideration, 
hereby grants and conveys to the Grantee, a permanent, perpetual, non-exclusive easement (the 
“Stormwater Easement ”) over, across, upon, under, in and on the area on the Easement Area 
located within the Grantor Property for the benefit of the Grantee in order to periodically inspect, 
maintain, reconstruct, and replace the stormwater management and treatment facilities on or 
about the Easement Area.

2. Allowed Uses within Stormwater Easement.  With respect to the foregoing 
grant of Stormwater Easement, the Grantee shall have the non-exclusive right, to enter the 
Easement Area for the purpose of inspecting, maintaining, reconstructing, and replacing the 
Easement Area. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the landowner of record is not relieved from 
their responsibility for the infrastructure’s design, construction, inspection, and maintenance 
under the applicable regulations and, moreover, there is no obligation that the Grantee undertake 
said responsibilities. In the event that the Grantee expends any funds to repair, maintain, or 
reconstruct the infrastructure the Grantee may require the landowner of record to reimburse the 
Grantee for said expenditures. 

3. Landowner’s Annual Report Obligation. The landowner of record shall submit 
to the Grantee’s Community Development Office, no later than September 1 each year, an 
annual report prepared by a qualified professional confirming that all stormwater management 
and measures have been maintained as required per Amherst Planning Board approval, dated 
September 15, 2021, demonstrating said stormwater management and measures are functioning 
per the approved stormwater management plan.  Said annual report shall note if any of the 
infrastructure has been subject to any repairs beyond routine maintenance and further shall note 
the results of said repairs. If the stormwater infrastructure is not functioning as required by the 
stormwater management plan the landowner of record shall note the details of said malfunction 
in said annual report and, furthermore, shall report on when the infrastructure will be repaired 
and functional.     

4. Obstructions to Use of the Utility Easement Area.  Neither Grantor nor 
Grantee, nor any person permitted to use the Easement Area under the terms hereof may utilize 
the Easement Area in a way that interferes with their use by any other person permitted to use the 
Easement Area.  Any obstructions or impediments to the use of the Easement Area may be 
removed, without notice, by either Grantor or Grantee, and the cost of such removal shall be 
borne by the party causing or responsible for such obstruction.   Grantee shall not have any right 
to use any portion of the Grantor Property outside the Easement Area. 

5. Enforcement of Easement.  The Grantor and Grantee shall have the right to 
legally enforce this Easement Agreement and the covenants, conditions, and restrictions set forth 
herein, by whatever action or actions are legally available, including, without limitation, 
enjoining any violation or threatened violation hereof.

6. Amendments.  This Easement Agreement may not be modified, amended or 
terminated except by execution and recording of a written instrument signed by both Grantor and 
Grantee.

Page 120 of 145



8. Successors.  All of the terms, covenants, conditions, and obligations set forth in 
this Easement Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and bind Grantor and Grantee, and their 
respective personal representatives, heirs, successors, transferees and assigns, and shall continue 
as a servitude running in perpetuity with the Grantor Property.

9. Severability.  If any provision or specific application of this Easement Agreement 
is found to be invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions or specific 
applications of this Easement Agreement shall remain valid and binding.

10. Governing Law.  This Easement Agreement shall be governed by and construed 
under the laws of the State of New Hampshire.

SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW

Page 121 of 145



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has agreed to and executed this Easement Agreement 
as of the date first written above.

GRANTOR:

UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT, LLC

By: _________________________________
Name: Matthew Arel
Title:  Manager

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

_________________, ss.

On this _______ day of ___________ 2022, before me, the undersigned notary public, 
personally appeared Matthew Arel, Manager of Unified Development, LLC proved to me 
through satisfactory evidence of identification which was _________________________ to be 
the person whose name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to 
me that he signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose, as Manager of Unified Development, LLC, 
a New Hampshire limited liability company.

______________________________
Notary Public:
My Commission Expires: 

Page 122 of 145



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantee has agreed to and executed this Easement Agreement 
as of the date first written above.

GRANTEE: 

TOWN OF AMHERST, NEW HAMPSHIRE

By: _________________________________
Name: 
Title:  Authorized Signatory

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

_________________, ss.

On this _______ day of ______________ 2022, before me, the undersigned notary 
public, personally appeared ____________________, proved to me through satisfactory 
evidence of identification which was _________________________ to be the person whose 
name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that he signed it 
voluntarily for its stated purpose, as an authorized signatory of the Town of Amherst, New 
Hampshire.

______________________________
Notary Public:
My Commission Expires: 

Page 123 of 145



EXHIBIT A

Grantor Property
Legal Description 

A certain tract or parcel of land located in Amherst, Hillsborough County, New Hampshire, 
known as 70A North Street, as more particularly described and shown as Map 3, Lot 93-2 on 
Plan #41194 entitled “Subdivision Overview Plan, Map 3, Lot 93, Unified Development, 70 
North Street, Amherst, New Hampshire, dated April 13, 2021, Scale 1”=100’, Sheet 1 of 4” 
prepared by Promised Land Survey, LLC, reference to which Plan a more exact description may 
be obtained.

Page 124 of 145



EXHIBIT B

Easement Plan

Page 125 of 145



Page 126 of 145



Page 127 of 145



Page 128 of 145



Page 129 of 145



Page 130 of 145



Page 131 of 145



Page 132 of 145



Page 133 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: CIP Committee Appointments Department: Community Development 
Office 

Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact:   

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. CIP Committee Members 

Page 134 of 145



CIP Committee

BoS
John D’Angelo:  jdangelo@amherstnh.gov 
Bill Stoughton (alternate):  wstoughton@amherstnh.gov 

Planning Board
Tom Silvia:  tsilvia@amherstnh.gov 

SAU39
Amy Facey:  afacey@sau39.org 

Ways and Means
Michael Patterson:  michaelpa8@hotmail.com 

Amherst School Board
Victoria Parisi: vparisi@sau39.org
Jason White: jwhite@sau39.org

Souhegan School Board
Stephen O'Keefe: sokeefe@sau39.org
Dan Veilleux: dveilleux@sau39.org

Citizen Member

Page 135 of 145

mailto:jdangelo@amherstnh.gov
mailto:wstoughton@amherstnh.gov
mailto:tsilvia@amherstnh.gov
mailto:afacey@sau39.org
mailto:michaelpa8@hotmail.com
mailto:vparisi@sau39.org
mailto:jwhite@sau39.org
mailto:sokeefe@sau39.org
mailto:dveilleux@sau39.org


Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Employee Policy Handbook Updates Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact:   

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
   
Administration is working through the process of updating the Employee Policy handbook. The 
following are updates that are needed as they do not match current process.  
  
 320 Deferred Compensation Plan 457 (b) 
 Current language: Effective Date: 9/27/2004  
The Town of Amherst has established a 457 (b) savings plan to provide employees the potential 
for future financial security for retirement.  
  
To be eligible to join the 457 (b) savings plan, you must be 18 years of age or older. You may 
join the plan at any time. Eligible employees may participate in the 457 (b) plan subject to all 
terms and conditions of the plan.  
   
The 457 (b) savings plan allows you to elect how much salary you want to contribute and direct 
the investment of your plan account, so you can tailor your own retirement package to meet your 
individual needs. The Town of Amherst also contributes an additional matching amount to each 
employee's 457 (b) contribution up to the amount of 3.5 percent of an employee's base wage.  
   
Because your contribution to a 457 (b) plan is automatically deducted from your pay before 
federal and state tax withholdings are calculated, you save tax dollars now by having your 
current taxable amount reduced. While the amounts deducted generally will be taxed when they 
are finally distributed, favorable tax rules typically apply to 457 (b) distributions.  
   
Complete details of the 457 (b) savings plan are described in the Summary Plan Description 
provided to eligible employees. Contact the Town Administrator for more information about the 
457 (b) plan.  
 
 Proposed change: Clarify who is eligible and change 3.5% to 5.5% 
 320 Deferred Compensation Plan 457 (b) 
The Town of Amherst has established a 457 (b) savings plan to provide employees with the 
potential for future financial security for retirement.  
 
Regular Full-Time employees are eligible and may participate in the 457 (b) plan subject to all 
terms and conditions of the plan. You may join or adjust your contribution at any time.  
   

Page 136 of 145



The Town  457 (b) savings plan allows you to elect how much salary you want to contribute and 
direct the investment of your plan account, so you can tailor your own retirement package to 
meet your individual needs. The Town of Amherst also contributes an additional matching 
amount to each employee's 457 (b) contribution up to the amount of 5.5 percent of an 
employee's base wage.  
   
Because your contribution to a 457 (b) plan is automatically deducted from your pay before 
federal and state tax withholdings are calculated, you save tax dollars now by having your 
current taxable amount reduced. While the amounts deducted generally will be taxed when they 
are finally distributed, favorable tax rules typically apply to 457 (b) distributions.  
   
Complete details of the 457 (b) savings plan are described in the Summary Plan Description 
provided to eligible employees. Contact Administrator for more information about the 457 (b) 
plan.  
   
Proposed new section: Clarify that all employees receive a Cost of Living Adjustment if the 
budget is supported by the voters  
 213 Compensation 
 Employees of every category, including Regular Full-Time, Regular Part-Time, Part-Time, 
Call, Temporary/Seasonal, Per Diem and Elected (with the exception of members of the Board 
of Selectmen) are eligible and entitled to a Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) if a COLA is 
included in the budget placed on the ballot and that budget is supported by the voters for the next 
fiscal year. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
I move to accept the changes in section 320 in the Town of Amherst Employee Policy 
Handbook, Deferred Compensation Plan 457 (b) to reflect the clarification of eligible 
employees and to update the Town match to our current practice of 5.5%. 
 
I move to adapt section 213 Compensation that clarifies that all categories of employee, 
with the expection of the Board of Selectmen, are entitled to the budgeted Cost of 
Living Adjustment if the Town budget is supported by the voters for the next fiscal year. 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

Page 137 of 145



None 

Page 138 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: Assessing Department: Assessing 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact: Michele Boudreau  

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
 
PA-16 Reimbursement to Towns and Cities 
Item A. The subject property is a vacant 18-acre parcel off Merrimack Road. The 
property is under State ownership and is exempt. For the town to be reimbursed for a 
portion of the lost tax revenue, the attached PA-16 form will need to be signed. 
 
Suggested Motion: 
Therefore, I move to approve and sign the PA-16 Application for Reimbursement to 
Towns and Cities in Which Federal and State Forest Land is Situated for Map 004, Lot 
068-000, Merrimack Road. 
 
 
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Item A 

Page 139 of 145



Page 140 of 145



Page 141 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: MInutes Department: Administration 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact:   

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
In reviewing records, it was discovered that the following  Board of Selectmen meeting 
minutes are still pending approval:  
Tuesday July 27, 2021 Bon Terrain site walk 
Wednesday November 10, 2021 Non-Public Session 
Wednesday November 17, 2021 Non-Public Session 
 
Minutes for the last BOS meeting, Monday June 27, 2022 are also attached for 
approval. 
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION:  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2021.11.10 BOS_DRAFT non-pub js 
2. 2021.11.17 BOS_nonpublic minutes_DRAFT 

Page 142 of 145



 
 
 
 

Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 
2 Main Street 

Wednesday, November 10, 2021 3:30 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 1 
Chairman Peter Lyon called the Board of Selectmen meeting to order at 3:30 p.m. 2 
 3 
Board of Selectmen Attendees: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Dwight Brew, Selectman 4 
Danielle Pray, Selectman John D’Angelo, and Selectman Tom Grella. Also in attendance 5 
were Town Administrator Dean Shankle, Jr. and Executive Assistant Jennifer Stover. 6 
 7 

2. Non-Public Session, RSA 91-A:3, II.(b) 8 
A MOTION was made by Selectman Tom Grella and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo 9 
that the Board of Selectmen enter Non-Public Session under RSA 91-A:3 II.(b). 10 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 11 
Selectman Pray – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 12 
 13 
The Board of Selectmen entered non-public session at 3:31 p.m.  14 
 15 
The Selectmen spoke with a candidate for the open DPW Director position. 16 
 17 
A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray that the 18 
Board of Selectmen exit Non-Public Session. 19 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 20 
Selectman Pray – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 21 
 22 
The Board of Selectmen exited non-public session at 5:06 p.m.  23 
 24 
Chairman Lyon announced that the Board of Selectmen did not make any motions and did not 25 
take any action in the non-public session. 26 
 27 
A MOTION was made by Chairman Lyon and SECONDED by Selectman Brew to adjourn the 28 
Board of Selectmen meeting at 5:08 pm. 29 
Motion carried unanimously. 30 
 31 
 32 
 33 
 34 
    35 
Selectman Danielle Pray  Date 36 

 37 

Page 143 of 145



 
 
 
 

Town of Amherst, NH 
BOARD OF SELECTMEN MEETING MINUTES 

Barbara Landry Meeting Room 
2 Main Street 

Wednesday, November 17, 2021 4:00 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 1 
Chairman Peter Lyon called the Board of Selectmen meeting to order at 4:00 p.m. 2 
 3 
Board of Selectmen Attendees: Chairman Peter Lyon, Selectman Dwight Brew, Selectman 4 
Danielle Pray, Selectman John D’Angelo, and Selectman Tom Grella. Also in attendance 5 
were Town Administrator Dean Shankel, Jr., Executive Assistant Jennifer Stover and MRI 6 
Consultant Rita Donaldson. 7 
 8 

2. Non-Public Session, RSA 91-A:3, II.(b) 9 
A MOTION was made by Selectman Dwight Brew and SECONDED by Selectman D’Angelo 10 
that the Board of Selectmen enter Non-Public Session under RSA 91-A:3 II.(b). 11 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 12 
Selectman Pray – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 13 
 14 
The Board of Selectmen entered non-public session at 4:01 p.m.  15 
 16 
The Selectmen spoke with two candidates for the open Finance Director position. 17 
 18 
A MOTION was made by Selectman D’Angelo and SECONDED by Selectman Pray that the 19 
Board of Selectmen exit Non-Public Session. 20 
By roll call vote: Selectman Brew – aye; Selectman D’Angelo – aye; Selectman Grella – aye; 21 
Selectman Pray – aye; Chairman Lyon – aye. 5-0-0; motion carried unanimously. 22 
 23 
The Board of Selectmen exited non-public session at 7:17 p.m.  24 
 25 
Chairman Lyon announced that the Board of Selectmen did not make any motions and did not 26 
take any action in the non-public session. 27 
 28 
A MOTION was made by Chairman Lyon and SECONDED by Selectman Brew to adjourn the 29 
Board of Selectmen meeting at 7:28 pm. 30 
Motion carried unanimously. 31 
 32 
 33 
 34 
 35 
    36 
Selectman Danielle Pray  Date 37 

 38 

Page 144 of 145



Town of Amherst, NH 

 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 
STAFF REPORT 

Title: AP & PR Approval Department: Finance Department 
Meeting Date: July 11, 2022 Staff Contact:   

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
  
BUDGET IMPACT: 
(Include general ledger account numbers)     
  
POLICY IMPLICATIONS:  
  
DEPARTMENT HEAD RECOMMENDATION:  
  
SUGGESTED MOTION: 
Approvals: 
  
    Payroll 
       PR1 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY22 Payroll Manifest in the amount of 
$258,744.24 dated June 30, 2022, subject to review and audit. 
       PR2 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY22 Payroll Manifest in the amount of $2,842.72 
dated June 30, 2022, subject to review and audit. 
  
   Accounts Payable 
   
    AP4 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY22 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$3,260,150.00 dated July 1, 2022, subject to review and audit. (Schools) 
  
   AP5 ~ I move to approve one (1) FY22 Accounts Payable Manifest in the amount of 
$519.60 dated June 29, 2022, subject to review and audit. (Vendors) 
  
  
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR RECOMMENDATION:  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None 

Page 145 of 145


	1. Call to Order
	2. Non-Public Session: NH RSA 91-A: 3 (d) Consideration of the acquisition, sale, or lease of real or personal property which, if discussed in public, would likely benefit a party or parties whose interests are adverse to those of the general community.
	3. Pledge of Allegiance
	4. Citizens' Forum
	5. Board Discussion- 7 Thornton Ferry 1
	6. Scheduled Appointments
	1. Bill Swift, Goldens on the Green 2022
	Goldens on the Green - One Page
	Goldens on the Green 2022, signed


	7. Administration
	1. Administrative Updates
	Staff Report

	2. PFAS Update
	Staff Report

	3. 7 Thornton Ferry Rd. 1
	Staff Report
	3220_001


	8. Staff Reports
	1. Approval - New Hire
	Staff Report

	2. FY23 Police Cruisers
	Staff Report
	20220705133307

	3. Bid Award - Contracted Assessing Services
	Staff Report
	Contracted Assessing RFP Award Request June 2022 Public

	4. Tax and Assessing Update
	Staff Report
	Tax and Assessing Biannual Update 6 27 2022 

	5. Bid Award - Shared Streets Planning Services
	Staff Report
	SKMBT_28322070513580
	mobycon bid
	Shared Streets 01-23

	6. AFR Biannual Update
	Staff Report
	AFR Biannual Update 7.6.2022

	7. Community Development Update
	Staff Report
	Community Development Biannual Update Presentation 7.11.22
	OFFICE OF Community development�DEPARTMENT UPDATE
	MISSION
	values
	OVERVIEW
	HISTORICAL TRENDS
	BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION HISTORY
	PLANNING BOARD APPLICATIONS
	ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT APPLICATIONS
	HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION APPLICATIONS
	UPDATES
	UPDATES
	UPDATES
	Questions?


	8. Easement Agreement Signature
	Staff Report
	003-093-000 Easement Plat (04-11-2022)
	003-093-000 PB Subdivision NOD Granted 9.15.2021 SIGNED
	003-093-000 Proposed Stormwater Easement Town final (003)
	Section copy 9.15.21 PB Mins Map 3 Lot 93

	9. CIP Committee Appointments
	Staff Report
	CIP Committee Members

	10. Employee Policy Handbook Updates
	Staff Report


	9. Approvals
	1. Assessing
	Staff Report
	Item A

	2. MInutes
	Staff Report
	2021.11.10 BOS_DRAFT non-pub js
	1. Call to Order
	2. Non-Public Session, RSA 91-A:3, II.(b)

	2021.11.17 BOS_nonpublic minutes_DRAFT
	1. Call to Order
	2. Non-Public Session, RSA 91-A:3, II.(b)


	3. AP & PR Approval
	Staff Report


	10. Action Items
	11. Old/New Business
	12. Non-Public Session: NH RSA 91-A: 3 (d) Consideration of the acquisition, sale, or lease of real or personal property which, if discussed in public, would likely benefit a party or parties whose interests are adverse to those of the general community.
	 Adjournment
	 Next Meeting:  July 25, 2022

